FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/11/2022 4:18 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/11/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100921-6

No. 83302-2-I WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, Division I

STEVE HOBBS, ¹ in his official capacity as Secretary of State of Washington,

Respondent / Plaintiff below,

v.

GERALD HANKERSON,
Appellant / Defendant below,

JESSE WINEBERRY, SR.; DR.
TERRYL ROSS; APRIL
FEATHERKILE; LIVID DE LA CRUZ;
REGIS COSTELLO; MICHAEL
McKEE; DEMOND JOHNSON; TIM
EYMAN; KARIM ALI; GEORGENE
FARIES; JULIA BOBADILLAMELBY; KAN QIU; LARRY JENSEN,
LYNN FRENCH; and CLINT
RHOADS,

Interested Parties named below

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

I. TERSE SUMMARY

Part V of this Petition outlines facts not disputed below. In short: this case involves the collection of signatures for Petitioner's anti-discrimination initiative measure in the second half of 2020 — the same time the highly transmissible coronavirus was disproportionately infecting, hospitalizing, and killing our State's racial minority citizens. To minimize potentially fatal health dangers involved with physically collecting and handling petition signatures *on paper*, Petitioner requested that the Secretary of State accept handwritten petition signatures collected *on line* with the DocuSign system designed for collecting handwritten initiative petition signatures.

The Secretary rejected this request without evaluating (or even looking at) the DocuSign system – and sued Petitioner for a declaratory judgment that her rejecting the DocuSign system without looking at it was a lawful exercise of discretion.

The Court of Appeals affirmed her discretion claim.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case involves a significant question of law under our State Constitution. Infra, Part VI.B.1. The right to petition for legislation by initiative is the first, foremost, and fundamental constitutional right of every Washington citizen. Article II, §1. State officials cannot diminish or curtail this constitutional right to petition. Article I, §4. And while the State can facilitate a citizen's exercise of their constitutional right to petition, the State cannot frustrate or hamper a citizen's exercise of this fundamental constitutional right. Article II, §1(d).

But curtail, frustrate, and hamper the safe exercise of this constitutional right by our State's minority citizens is exactly what the plaintiff Secretary's decision in this case did.

This Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that deserves to be addressed and settled by our Supreme Court. *Infra*, Part VI.B.2. Our State

Constitution is premised on the principle that "All political power is inherent in the people", and thus "The <u>first</u> power reserved by the people is the initiative." Articles I, §1 & II, §1 (underline added). This core principle upon which our State Constitution is based confirms the Washington public's substantial interest in the "discretion" State officials have to hamper, frustrate, and suppress the safe exercise of Washington citizens' right to petition for legislation by initiative.

This Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2) because upholding the plaintiff State officer's "discretion" claim conflicts with published decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. *Infra*, Part VI.B.3. Upholding the Secretary's summary rejection of the DocuSign signature system without even looking at it conflicts with published decisions holding that <u>lawful</u> discretion requires the government official to examine and give due consideration to the facts involved – not choose instead to remain ignorant of those facts and thus speculate.

II. <u>PETITIONER</u>

The Petitioner (Mr. Hankerson) is a sponsor of the anti-discrimination initiative measure that prompted the Secretary of State to file this suit for a declaratory judgment upholding her refusal to accept any handwritten initiative signature collected with the DocuSign signature system Petitioner proposed using. CP 3 & 6. He is the only party named as the defendant in this suit; President of the NAACP's multi-state conference for Washington, Oregon, & Alaska; and co-sponsor of the Initiative 1234 anti-discrimination measure. CP 3 at ¶9; CP 553-555.

In accordance with the Declaratory Judgment Act, the plaintiff Secretary's Complaint also named the sponsors of other potential initiatives as "interested parties" CP 3-4 at \$\\$10-22.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The April 11, 2022 Court of Appeals decision is attached at Appendix A. The legal arguments that Petitioner raised (and that the Court of Appeals therefore rejected) were presented in the Opening & Closing briefs attached at Appendices B & C.

IV. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Do Articles II, §1 & I, §4 of our State Constitution allow a Secretary of State the "discretion" to categorically refuse to accept for signature examination and verification a voter's handwritten initiative petition signature if the voter's signature is collected with an on line signature system that the Secretary of State refuses to examine or even look at?

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A. Anti-Discrimination Initiatives 1000 & 1776

Initiative 1000, Initiative 1776, and Initiative 1234 were three similar anti-discrimination initiatives in the 2018-2020 time frame.

 $\underline{2018}$: **395,938** *voters* signed the Initiative 1000 petitions in 2018.²

2019: 952,053 voters voted in favor of I-1000 when Referendum 88 put it to a general election vote in 2019 (although that vote ultimately repealed I-1000 by a 49.44% to 50.56% margin).³

First half of 2020: Even though it was similar to the I-1000 measure that 952,053 voters had just voted for, securing the needed 300,000 signatures for Initiative 1776 using the pre-COVID practice of physically collecting and handling petitions with wet ink signatures on paper proved unworkable once COVID established its disproportionate infliction of infection, hospitalization, and death in our racial minority communities.⁴ Petitioner therefore asked the Secretary of State

² CP 556-557 at ¶8.

³ CP 556-557 at ¶8.

 $^{^{4}}$ CP 557 at $\P 9$.

to accept handwritten signatures safely collected *on line*, and in July 2020 the Secretary of State said no.⁵

B. On the Ground Realities Impacting Initiative 1234

Filed in the *second* half of 2020 (August), Initiative 1234 was similar to the Initiative 1000 measure that 952,053 voters had voted for in the fall of 2019, and had a constitutionally-set December 31, 2020 signature deadline.⁶

The record below established five on-the-ground realities with respect to this anti-discrimination initiative:

- <u>Discrimination</u>: Discrimination disproportionately impacts racial minority citizens such as the Petitioner an undisputed fact candidly confirmed by the plaintiff Secretary's sworn testimony.⁷
- <u>COVID</u>: The ever-mutating, microscopic, and highly contagious corona virus disproportionately infects, hospitalizes, and kills our State's racial minority citizens

⁵ CP 557 at ¶9; CP 442-450; CP 584-586; CP 374-375.

⁶ CP 563-583; CP 4 at ¶26; Washington Constitution, Article II, $\S1(a)$; accord, Secretary of State's website at https://www.sos.wa.gov/elections/initiatives/initiatives.aspx?y= 2020&t=1 ("To be certified, petitions must ... be submitted no later than 5:00pm on December 31, 2020").

⁷ CP 555 at ¶5; CP 298:20-299:18.

- an undisputed fact candidly confirmed by the plaintiff Secretary's sworn testimony.⁸
- <u>Intimidation</u>: Given the above, it is rational for many minority citizens to fear that forcing them to physically collect and handle wet ink signatures on physical pieces of paper handled by other people will endanger the health and safety of themselves, their families, and their communities an undisputed fact candidly confirmed by the plaintiff Secretary's sworn testimony.
- Money: Requiring in-person contacts, circulation, and collection of wet ink signatures *on paper* to gather the 300,000 signatures required for an initiative petition costs a lot of money and as Petitioner's sworn (and undisputed) testimony confirmed, this economic reality hamstrings low income citizens who attempt to exercise their constitutional right to petition for legislation by initiative. ¹⁰

⁸ CP 555-556 at ¶¶6-7; CP 194:12-14; CP 194-195 at n.25; CP 299:19-300:3.

⁹ CP 555-557 at ¶¶6-9; CP 558-559 at ¶13; CP 300:4-301:2.

¹⁰ RP 26:1-10 ("I am not collecting handwritten signatures for I-1234 in wet ink on paper or on line, for I do not possess the financial resources to pay for the in-person wet ink signature collecting from the approximately 300,000 persons needed to exercise my constitutional rights to petition the Legislature by initiative for enactment of this anti-discrimination legislation, and the on line signature system that the Secretary of State refuses to accept is what would allow the safe collection of initiative petition signatures among the racial minority members like myself who are disproportionally

C. <u>Collecting & Transmitting Signatures On Line Is Not Novel in Today's World</u>

The on line collection and acceptance of handwritten signatures for legal documents is common in today's world. For example, the Secretary of State's office uses on line or electronically transmitted and stored signatures for:

- contract signatures.¹¹
- legal document signatures.¹²
- on line voter registration signatures.¹³
- in person voter registration signatures. 14
- initiative sponsor signatures. 15
- referendum sponsor signatures.¹⁶
- the validation of initiative signatures. 17

infected, hospitalized, and killed by the invisible but deadly COVID-19 pandemic that continues to rage on.").

¹¹ CP 293:25-295:20.

¹² CP 288:25-290:10.

¹³ CP 266:13-23, 267:8-21, 297:16-298:19.

¹⁴ CP 262:12-263:6, 342:24-343:5.

¹⁵ CP 297:5-12; CP 296:6-297:4, 344:19-345:12, 351:10-13, 561-562.

¹⁶ CP 297:13-15.

D. The DocuSign On Line Signature System

DocuSign designs on line signature systems widely used and accepted in today's world for signing legal documents – processing literally hundreds of millions of electronic signatures and transactions for government entities, financial institutions, insurance companies, nonprofit entities, educational institutions, real estate transactions, healthcare providers, and legal services – a modern reality the Secretary does not dispute. ¹⁸

Petitioner proposed using the DocuSign on line signature system previously developed for Initiative 1776.¹⁹ A step-by-step, screen-by-screen, demonstration of what a voter has to do to handwrite their signature on the initiative petition and transmit that handwritten signature using this DocuSign system is at CP 220-236. *See also* CP 242 and CP 537-552 (Wyman

¹⁷ CP 260:8-21, 261:4-262:11, 340:7-342:5; CP 260:8-21, 261:4-262:11, 340:7-342:5.

¹⁸ See CP 197; CP 291:5-20.

¹⁹ See CP 197.

Exhibit 18), which is gone through step-by-step in the sworn testimony of the Secretary's designee at CP 318:3-326:9.

E. <u>Procedural History</u>

Petitioner requested that the Secretary accept for verification handwritten petition signatures that DocuSign would collect with the above DocuSign signature system.²⁰

The Secretary rejected Petitioner's request, and on September 17, 2020 filed this suit reiterating that "Secretary Wyman will reject" any handwritten signature collected with the DocuSign system Petitioner proposed, and demanding a declaratory judgment upholding that rejection. The Secretary's sworn testimony later acknowledged that her office did not look at the DocuSign system before rejecting it. Her sworn testimony also admitted that the signature verification standard used to evaluate the validity of a voter's initiative petition signature can be equally applied to a wet ink signature

²⁰ CP 557-558 at ¶10; CP 451-455.

²¹ CP 558 at ¶11; 593-595; CP 6 at¶45.

²² CP 291:21-292:17, 318:6-326:9.

collected *on paper* or a handwritten signature collected *on line* with the DocuSign system in this case.²³

Less than 24 hours after receiving the Secretary's rejection, Petitioner filed an Article IV, §4 Petition Against State Officer in this Court.²⁴ He did so because the Secretary's pre-emptive rejection suppressed signature gathering by the racial minority citizens that Initiative 1234 would protect.²⁵

This Court dismissed Petitioner's direct action suit based on the Secretary's argument that her declaratory judgment lawsuit in the superior court provided Petitioner a "plain, speedy, adequate remedy at law."²⁶

²³ CP 263:20-23, 315:12-316:2, 345:13-346:7; see generally CP 204:20-206:2.

²⁴ CP 558 at ¶12; CP 456-518 (Supreme Court no. 99050-6).

²⁵ CP 456-518; CP 555-559 at ¶¶5-13.

²⁶ CP 398-399 (Secretary's demanding dismissal on the grounds that her declaratory judgment suit provided a "Plain, Speedy, and Adequate Remedy at Law"); CP 164-165 (Supreme Court Commissioner granting dismissal on the grounds that the Secretary's declaratory judgment suit provided Petitioner "a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law").

The superior court denied Petitioner's motion for an expedited summary judgment schedule.²⁷

Petitioner nonetheless filed his summary judgment motion less than a week after the Secretary made her authorized designee available for deposition.²⁸

His summary judgment motion plainly summarized the relief sought, stating he

seeks nothing more (and nothing less) than a timely court order upholding and protecting the unabridged exercise of his constitutional right to petition for anti-discrimination legislation by initiative as guaranteed by Article II, §1 & Article I, §4 of our State Constitution.

CP 186:18-26. His summary judgment motion accordingly requested a court order mandating the following:

²⁷ CP 596-598.

²⁸ CP 179-242 (motion); 253:6-22 (deposition transcript); 519-534 (deposition notices).

The Secretary of State must accept handwritten petition signatures which are collected using the DocuSign on line signature system [Petitioner] requested.

The Secretary of State must then assess whether the resulting initiative petitions satisfy the three requirements specified in Article II, section 1 for the exercise of a citizen's constitutional right to petition for legislation by initiative – namely:

- (1) <u>full text</u>: did the initiative petitions include the initiative's full text?
- (2) <u>number</u>: did the total number of valid signatures reach the specified 8%?
- (3) <u>deadline</u>: were the petitions filed at least 10 days before the legislative session?

CP 187:3-9.

The Secretary responded with a cross-motion asserting that she had exercised the discretion the Washington Constitution allows to summarily reject any and all handwritten initiative signatures collected *on line* (without looking at the on line signature system proposed).²⁹ The superior court agreed

²⁹ CP 694:6-7 (Secretary's Opposition & Cross-Motion asserting that "The Secretary has exercised her discretion and declined to accept electronic signatures on initiative petitions, instead requiring an original ink signature").

with the Secretary's discretion argument,³⁰ and thus denied Petitioner's summary judgment motion and granting the Secretary's on December 28, 2020 (three days before the December 31 signature deadline).³¹

Petitioner appealed and sought direct review in this Court

– but on June 30, 2021 this Court transferred his appeal to

Division Two.³²

Then on October 18, 2021 Division Two transferred his appeal to Division One.³³

And on April 11, 2022, Division One filed the decision attached to this Petition at Appendix A.

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. Mootness

Petitioner acknowledges that Initiative 1234 died once the December 31, 2020 signature deadline passed. But the legal

³⁰ RP 21:20-24, 44:13-16.

³¹ *CP 643-646*.

³² 6/30/2021 Order, Supreme Court case no. 99424-2.

³³ 10/18/2021 Order Transferring Cases, Division II case no. 560143.

out of the clock in this suit illustrates, this legal issue is capable of repetition again while again evading review. Mootness case law accordingly dictates that this appeal remains justiciable.³⁴

³⁴ E.g., Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 107 n.2, 95 S.Ct. 854, 43 L.Ed.2d 54 (1975) (mootness does not defeat constitutional challenge to arrest law because claim was capable of repetition yet evading review); Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 125, 93 S.Ct. 705, 35 L Ed.2d 147 (1973) (mootness does not defeat constitutional challenge to abortion law because claim is capable of repetition yet evading review due to 9-month pregnancy being a temporary condition); Moore v. Ogilvie, 394 U.S. 814, 816, 89 S.Ct. 1493, 23 L.Ed.2d 1 (1969) (mootness does not defeat former candidate's constitutional challenge to election law because the claim was capable of repetition and thus warranted review: "But while the 1968 election is over, the burden which [the decision below] allowed to be placed on the nomination of candidates for statewide offices remains and controls future elections, as long as Illinois maintains her present system as she has done since 1935"); Masters, Mates, & Pilots v. Brown, 498 U.S. 466, 473, 112 L.Ed.2d 991, 111 S.Ct. 880 (1991) (mootness does not defeat candidate's challenge to the legality of union's conduct in the union election he lost because was capable of repetition); see also, In re Marriage of Irwin, 64 Wn.App. 38, 60, 822 P.2d 797 (1992) (Washington appellate courts review moot cases when the error at issue is "capable of repetition, yet evading review"); In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 893, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) (review of moot child relocation case appropriate because claim likely to arise in other child relocation proceedings); State v. Hale, 94 Wn.App. 46, 52, 971

B. <u>Tests Established in RAP 13.4(b)</u>

1. Significant Question of Law under the Washington State Constitution

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case involves a significant question of law under our State Constitution.

First, Foremost, and Fundamental: Our State Constitution is premised on the principle that "All political power is inherent in the people." Article I, §1. Our Constitution accordingly dictates that "the people reserve to themselves the power to propose bills", and thus "The first power reserved by the people is the initiative." Article II, §1 (underline added).

P.2d 88 (1999) (review of moot drug treatment claim appropriate because the question would persist); accord Secretary's April 21, 2021 Response Brief at 12 n.2.

Washington courts have therefore long emphasized that a citizen's constitutional right to petition for legislation by initiative is <u>foremost</u> and <u>fundamental</u>.³⁵

The Three Petition Requirements: The words of Article II, §1 impose only three requirements on Washington citizens' exercise of this fundamental constitutional right with an initiative petition:

- (1) their petition must include the initiative's full text,
- (2) they must collect valid signatures of legal voters equal to 8% of the votes cast for governor in the last election, and

Mullen v. Howell, 107 Wash. 167, 168-171, 181 P. 920 (1919) ("the first of all, the sovereign rights of the citizen") (underline added); Schrempp v. Munro, 116 Wn.2d 929, 932 & 935, 809 P.2d 1381 (1991) (courts must "remember that, first, exercise of the initiative process is a constitutional right", and that "The proponents [of an initiative] are exercising a constitutional right to petition."); Save Our State Park v. Hordyk, 71 Wn.App. 84, 90, 856 P.2d 734 (1993) ("The right of initiative is a fundamental constitutional right") (underline added); Save Our State Park v. Board of Clallam County Commissioners, 74 Wn.App. 637, 643, 875 P.2d 673 (1994) ("The right of the people to enact laws through the initiative process is, of course, one of the foremost rights of the citizens of the State of Washington") (underline added).

(3) for initiatives to the legislature (like Petitioner's Initiative 1234), they must file their petitions with the Secretary of State no less than 10 days before the legislature's regular session.

Article II, §1(a).

Not Diminish or Curtail: Our State Constitution also commands that "The right of petition ... shall never be abridged." Article I, §4. Since Washington law holds that the words used in our State Constitution must be given their

common English dictionary meaning,³⁶ this not be "abridged" command means not be diminished or curtailed.³⁷

Facilitate, Not Hamper: Article II, §1 allows a statute or regulation to facilitate a citizen's exercise of his or her

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