FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/10/2022 1:44 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100921-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GERALD HANKERSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STEVE HOBBS, in his official capacity as Secretary of State of Washington,

Respondent.

V.

JESSE WINEBERRY SR.; DR. TERRYL ROSS; APRIL FEATHERKILE; LIVIO De La CRUZ; REGIS COSTELLO; MICHAEL McKEE; DEMOND JOHNSON; TIM EYMAN; KARIM ALI; GEORGENE FARIES; JULIA BOBADILLA-MELBY; KAN QIU; LARRY JENSEN; LYNN FRENCH; and CLINT RHOADS,

Interested Parties.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON *Attorney General*

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. One of the Issues Addressed in the Petition is Moot

Mr. Hankerson's petition involves two separate issues, one of which is moot. Mr. Hankerson's challenge as-applied to I-1234 is moot and does not present a question of continuing and substantial public interest. The circumstances confronting initiative sponsors in 2020 are unlikely to recur. By contrast, Mr. Hankerson's broader challenge, as applied to any future initiative petitions using the specific system he proposed, is not moot.

The challenge as applied to I-1234 is moot. "A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief." *State v*.

Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 616, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). This Court can no longer provide effective relief with respect to an initiative filed in 2020; the deadline for collecting signatures has passed. Mr. Hankerson acknowledges this. Pet. for Review at 15 ("Petitioner acknowledges that Initiative 1234 died once the December 31, 2020 signature deadline passed.").

Mr. Hankerson's argument relating to I-1234 does not satisfy the "continuing and substantial public interest" exception to the rule that this Court will not consider moot issues. One of the key considerations related to this exception is "the likelihood of future recurrence of the question." *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012) (quoting *In re Personal Restraint of Mattson*, 166 Wn.2d 730, 736, 214 P.3d 141 (2009)). The issue of whether the Secretary would have been

¹ Mr. Hankerson refers to the "capable of repetition [yet] evading review" formulation used in federal courts. Pet. for Review at 16. This Court has declined to adopt this exception. *Hart v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 451, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988). But the argument is properly considered under the public interest exception.

required to accept electronic signatures for I-1234 (had the sponsors collected such signatures) is a fact-specific inquiry, considering such factors as the sponsors' diligence. *E.g.*, *Miller v. Thurston*, 967 F.3d 727, 740-41 (8th Cir. 2020) (considering COVID-19 circumstances); *Angle v. Miller*, 673 F.3d 1122, 1133 (9th Cir. 2012) (considering diligence). The circumstances present in Washington in 2020—including the onset of a global pandemic and an associated stay-home order—are exceedingly unlikely to recur, and "an authoritative determination" of whether those circumstances required accepting electronic signatures would provide no useful "future guidance of public officers." *Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 907.

Any future as-applied challenges to the original ink signature requirement can be timely addressed on the merits. Mr. Hankerson suggests that the legal issue may "evad[e] review" as a result of "the running out of the clock." Pet. for Review at 16. But Mr. Hankerson could have brought a motion for preliminary injunction at any time and, if unsuccessful, a

motion for accelerated review. This Court frequently addresses time-sensitive election matters. *E.g.*, *Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn.2d 643, 645, 361 P.3d 727 (2015). There is no reason to think that the issue will evade review in the future.

The Secretary agrees that Mr. Hankerson's argument related to the application of the original ink signature requirement to future initiatives using his proposed signature-collection system is *not* moot. A decision in Mr. Hankerson's favor would allow him to use his proposed signature-collection system with respect to future initiatives (without bringing a new as-applied challenge) and would therefore provide effective relief. Though this issue is not moot, it still does not warrant this Court's review.

B. The Petition Does Not Present a Significant or Substantial Question

The petition for review overstates the significance of the issue presented. This case does not concern whether the Washington Constitution *allows* for electronic signatures; the parties agree that, with statutory and regulatory authorization,

such signatures would be permissible. This case does not even concern whether the Washington Constitution requires the Secretary to give legal effect to *all* electronic signatures (such as an "s/" or audio recording, *see* RCW 1.80.010(10) (defining "electronic signature")). In fact, this case is not about whether the Secretary must give legal effect to *electronic* signatures at all. Instead, the issue in this case is whether the Secretary must give legal effect to *printed copies* of signatures that were gathered electronically using a particular—and particularly flawed—system. CP at 547, 888.

Applying settled law and the plain language of the Washington Constitution, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Secretary is not required to give legal effect to copies of electronic signatures submitted pursuant to Mr. Hankerson's proposed system. The Washington Constitution requires "valid signatures of legal voters." Const. art. II, § 1(a). In this context, "valid" means "genuine." *Sudduth v. Chapman*, 88 Wn.2d 247, 252-53, 558 P.2d 806 (1977). The

Washington Constitution does not otherwise define the term "valid signature." In the absence of specific legislation, the Washington Constitution directs the Secretary to follow "the general laws" with respect to initiative petitions. Const. art. II, § 1(d).

Two statutory schemes are relevant to the determination of what constitutes a "valid signature." First, chapter 29A.72 RCW establishes procedures and standards related to initiative petitions. Particularly relevant here, RCW 29A.72.230 assigns the responsibility for "[t]he verification and canvass of signatures" on initiative petitions to the Secretary. With certain exceptions not relevant here, RCW 29A.72.230 gives the Secretary discretion regarding how to verify and canvass signatures. *See also* RCW 43.07.310(1) ("The secretary of state... is responsible for... [t]he... verification of signatures, and certification of state initiative... petitions."). Other statutes in chapter 29A.72 RCW contemplate original ink signatures. *See*

RCW 29A.72.090, .100 (directing sponsors to print blank petitions and specifying paper requirements).

The second statutory scheme is the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA), ch. 1.80 RCW. The UETA expressly gives the Secretary discretion to "determine whether, and the extent to which," the Secretary will "accept . . . electronic signatures to and from other persons and otherwise . . . use[] and rely upon . . . electronic signatures." RCW 1.80.170(1). It expressly "does not require a governmental agency of this state to use or permit the use of . . . electronic signatures." RCW 1.80.170(3); see also RCW 1.80.040 (noting that chapter applies only "between parties each of which has agreed to conduct transactions by electronic means"). Other states have concluded that, under the language of the UETA, elections officials are not required to give effect to electronic signatures. Meyer v. Jacobsen, __ P.3d __, No. DA 21-0378, 2022 WL 1553142, at *7-9 (Mont. May 17, 2022); Yoshimura v. Kaneshiro, 149 Haw. 21, 39, 481 P.3d 28 (2021).

Together, chapter 29A.72 RCW and the UETA firmly establish that the Secretary has discretion regarding whether to give legal effect to electronic signatures on initiative petitions. The Secretary's regulations reflect that the Secretary has exercised that discretion to not give legal effect to electronic signatures on initiative petitions. The regulations require that signatures be "handwritten," WAC 434-379-020(1), a term the Secretary has long interpreted to mean an original ink signature, CP at 896-97. That interpretation is entitled to "a 'high level of deference." Brady v. Autozone Stores, Inc., 188 Wn.2d 576, 581, 397 P.3d 120 (2017) (quoting *Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of* Lab. & Indus. 159 Wn.2d 868, 885, 154 P.3d 891 (2007) (plurality opinion)). Deference is particularly appropriate in light of the Secretary's "expertise and insight gained from administering" the signature verification statutes since 1936. *Id.*; Laws of 1933, ch. 144, p. 490. The Secretary's interpretation is also confirmed by WAC 434-379-008(2)(e)(i), which requires lines for each voter to provide an "[o]riginal signature." See also

WAC 434-208-060(3) ("No initiative, referendum, recall, or other signature petitions may be filed electronically.").

Moreover, it is the Secretary's longstanding practice to not give legal effect to *copies* of signatures, even when the original was drawn on paper instead of electronically. CP at 896-97. Copies of initiative petitions lose all indicia of reliability; there is no way to verify that the copy received by the Secretary is genuine. Copies make it impossible for the Secretary to fulfill the statutory requirement to verify signatures. While the Secretary can determine whether the copied signature matches the voter's signature, it is not possible to verify whether the voter signed the petition (or if the voter's signature was fraudulently affixed by a third party).

Under a straightforward reading of the Washington Constitution, statutes, and regulations, the Secretary is not required to give legal effect to initiative petitions bearing copies of what a sponsor represents are signatures gathered online.

Mr. Hankerson's arguments do not raise a significant question of constitutional law for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(3). To be sure, the issues touch on an important constitutional power. But the specific issue presented by Mr. Hankerson does not present a significant question. The parties agree that the Washington Constitution and United States Constitution protect the exercise of the initiative power. The Court of Appeals decision does not suggest otherwise.

Mr. Hankerson's assertion that the Court of Appeals held that there is no protection of the constitutional initiative power misreads the Court of Appeals decision. The Court of Appeals declined to address Mr. Hankerson's as-applied challenge because "in his reply brief, Hankerson expressly disavow[ed]" his as-applied challenge. *Hobbs*, 507 P.3d at 426 n.10. The Court of Appeals decision simply does not address the issue; it certainly did not hold that there are no constitutional protections.

It is undisputed that there are robust constitutional protections. Under the Washington Constitution, there is a

well-established legal framework ensuring that laws governing the initiative process do not restrict or hinder the exercise of the initiative power. E.g., Sudduth, 88 Wn.2d at 250-51. Under this framework, laws that are reasonably necessary to prevent fraud or mistake are valid means of facilitating the initiative process. E.g., id. at 252 (reflecting that courts should defer to legislative judgment where there is "some showing of facts upon which the legislature could reasonably" find a law necessary to "guard [the initiative process'] integrity"); State ex rel. Evich v. Superior Court of Thurston County, 188 Wash. 19, 28, 31, 61 P.2d 143 (1936) (holding that requirement to canvass signatures did not impermissibly hamper initiative process). Under the United States Constitution, there is also a well-established framework for determining whether laws governing the initiative process run afoul of the First Amendment's guarantee of the freedom of speech. See Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 433, 112 S. Ct. 2059, 119 L. Ed. 2d 245 (1992); Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460

U.S. 780, 789, 103 S. Ct. 1564, 75 L. Ed. 2d 547 (1983); see also Resp't's Br. at 42-43.

Even if Mr. Hankerson had preserved his as-applied constitutional challenge, it still would not present a significant constitutional question. Mr. Hankerson has chosen to simply ignore the existing legal frameworks in favor of a rigid rule that would invalidate regulations of the initiative process that do not make it "easy, easier, or less difficult" to adopt an initiative. Pet. for Review at 21. He does not address, much less meaningfully distinguish, cases that are inconsistent with his proposed rule. See, e.g., State ex rel. Evich, 188 Wn.2d at 28, 31 (upholding canvassing requirement and removing initiative from ballot); State ex rel. Kiehl v. Howell, 77 Wash. 651, 652, 654-55, 138 P. 286 (1914) (upholding time limits on initiative signature gathering). Nor does Mr. Hankerson argue that these inconsistent cases are incorrect and harmful. Mr. Hankerson's arguments do not present a significant constitutional question.

Mr. Hankerson's arguments also do not identify "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). While issues relating to the initiative power will frequently be of substantial public interest, Mr. Hankerson raises only a narrow issue related to one specific system of submitting copies of electronic signatures. The Court of Appeals decision is narrow and leaves ample room for the political branches—including the people legislating by initiative—to address the issue of electronic signatures on initiative petitions. It also preserves the opportunity for initiative supporters to bring as-applied challenges to the original ink signature requirement under well-established constitutional frameworks.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent With Precedent

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. There are two problems with Mr. Hankerson's argument. First, he addresses the wrong standard, focusing on the Secretary's arguments instead of the Courts of Appeals decision. Second, Mr. Hankerson misunderstands the nature of the discretion at issue.

Mr. Hankerson addresses the wrong standard in arguing that "the Secretary's 'discretion' claim conflicts with" precedent. Pet. for Review at 25. The question is not whether a party's claim conflicts with precedent; the question is whether "the decision of the Court of Appeals" conflicts with precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals decision here did not address the Secretary's exercise of discretion with respect to the DocuSign signature system. Hobbs, 507 P.3d at 426 n.10 (declining to address the disavowed constitutional argument). As a result, the Court of Appeals decision cannot be said to be inconsistent with any other decision on the issue of the exercise of discretion.

In addition, Mr. Hankerson's allegation of a conflict is based on a misunderstanding of the discretion at issue. The Secretary had discretion to determine whether or not to accept electronic signatures on initiative petitions. RCW 1.80.170(1), (3); RCW 29A.72.230. The Secretary exercised that discretion to not accept electronic signatures on initiative petitions, as reflected in WAC 434-379-020(1), WAC 434-379-008(2)(e)(i), and WAC 434-208-060(3). *See also* CP at 896-97. Having exercised discretion by adopting a generally-applicable rule, the Secretary is not required to individually exercise discretion anew every time someone seeks an exception to the rule.

The cases cited by Mr. Hankerson do not support his argument to the contrary. Pet. for Review at 25-26 (citing *Rios v*. *Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 145 Wn.2d 483, 501, 39 P.3d 961 (2002), and *Merritt Sch. Dist. No. 50 v. Kimm*, 22 Wn.2d 887, 891, 157 P.2d 989 (1945)). The *Rios* case addressed an agency's adoption of a rule and its later refusal to adopt a rule. *Rios*, 145 Wn.2d at 490. It also arose in the context of a statute setting specific rulemaking requirements. *Id.* at 508 (citing RCW 49.17.050(4)). By contrast, Mr. Hankerson has not brought a rulemaking challenge under the APA, nor has he petitioned for agency

rulemaking. There is no conflict with *Rios*. The *Kimm* case did not involve discretion exercised by the adoption of a generally-applicable rule. Instead, it involved a one-off decision by a school superintendent. *Kimm*, 22 Wn.2d at 888-89. This was a fundamentally different context, and there is no conflict.

Regardless, Mr. Hankerson is incorrect on the merits about what occurred here. The Secretary clearly *did* consider Mr. Hankerson's proposal and explained the reasons for adhering to the existing rule, including the position that such an important policy decision should be made by the Legislature. CP at 96-97, 374-75. While the Secretary did not review the specific website, the Secretary had sufficient information to determine that Mr. Hankerson's proposal was problematic. Discovery in this case only confirmed that conclusion. CP at 888 (reflecting intent to submit printed copies of electronic signatures).

In sum, Mr. Hankerson has not identified a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision in this case and any other published decision. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).²

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review. The Court of Appeals decision is narrow and preserves robust protections for the exercise of the initiative power.

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